1952

Howard E. Watkins v. Utah Poultry and Farmers Cooperative : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This suit was brought by the appellant Howard E. Watkins against respondent Utah Poultry and Farmers Cooperative, a corporation, to recover damages for personal injuries consisting primarily of the loss of an arm and a leg and brain concussion in a sideswiping truck accident which occurred at a narrow bridge near the Lunt Roadside Park on the Buckhorn Flat, in Iron County, Utah about 7 miles north of Paragonah (Exhibit T). The jury in the trial court returned a verdict of no cause of action in favor of the defendant, and the lower court denied the appellant's motion for new trial; from that order denying the motion for new trial this appeal was taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff Howard E. Watkins was a young man 28 years of age and married March 23, 1946. He was a veteran having served in the United States Army Field Artillery in the South Pacific area for 4½ years, during World War II (R. 52). He attended the Agricultural College in Logan, Utah for four years, majoring in business administration, and had completed his course except for two or three quarters (R. 53). He moved to St. George in 1950, where he was employed as an automobile salesman up until the time of the accident (R. 58). The collision occurred on U. S. Highway 91, about 7 miles north of Paragonah, Utah on the Buckhorn Flat (Exhibit P). The oil portion of the highway all across the Buckhorn Flat varies from 18½ to 20 feet in width (R. 36-37); the shoulder on each side of the oiled portion was about 2 feet wide at the bridge shown on Exhibit G (R. 232); the bridge shown on Exhibit G was over a dry wash about 15 feet wide and deep enough to bury a car (R. 36). The accident occurred at night at approximately 10:00 o'clock P.M. (Exhibit P). The plaintiff testified that he saw the headlights of the defendant's truck on his side of the highway, (R. 80-81); that the truck appeared to be overlapping his side of the road; that he got his right wheels on the shoulder about a foot and a half or two feet when the bridge loomed up. It was either hit the bridge or go into the gulley, or try to get back on the road and pass the truck (R. 60-61). The left front headlight of the plaintiff's Ford collided with the left front corner of the truck-bed, and the truck ripped through the entire left

side of the plaintiff's Ford, the Ford remaining in contact with the truck bed for the full length of the car (Exhibits E and F). The only part of the truck that was really damaged was the extreme corner of the rack (R. 48-49, Exhibit F). There was no damage to the front fender or to any of the truck in front of the bed of the truck (R.49).

Highway Patrolman Ernest Pearce who was at the scene of the accident, testified that he observed tire burns on the highway in the vicinity of the bridge on the evening of the accident. The tire burns began between 10 and 20 feet north of the bridge going in a northerly direction (R. 32). There was no center line stripe on the highway at that place. The officer described the tire burns as starting east of the center line and swinging across the road and back, and then across the road again with the car coming to rest about 400 feet from the bridge (R. 33). On the second turn back to the point where the car came to rest, the tire burns changed from just a burn or brake mark to a rim gouge. The rim gouge, starting at the beginning of the last turn and remaining more or less constant to the point where the Ford came to rest, appeared to be the path taken by the left front wheel after the left front tire had been thrown from the vehicle (R. 34). The tire was picked up by the witness, Claude E. Burton, the following morning. The tire was located on the east side of the road straight across from the Ford automobile (R. 260). Officer Pearce placed two ink crosses on Exhibit G to identify the point where he figured the tire burns started. He was unable to see any

tire burns in line with those indicated on Exhibit G south of that point (R. 41). The officer also testified that raspberries were scattered in all directions, but there was a definite course of the raspberries pretty well toward the center of the road about 160 feet south of the bridge (R. 41). Officer Pearce stated that the tire burn represented the car going forward rather than in a side-slip.

Theodore Atherly, a witness called on behalf of the plaintiff, testified that he was at the scene of the accident before the plaintiff was removed to the hospital; he observed the markings on the highway about 4 feet from the center line on the east side and about 10 feet from the bridge. He identified the ink crosses on Exhibit G as representing the location of the tire marks he saw on that night. He traced the marks from the car back to the point indicated on the exhibit; he saw no other tire burns of any kind extending south of the point indicated by the ink crosses (R. 115). The distance between the left-hand tire burn and the center of the highway was about 4 feet (R. 116). The witness walked back and forth from the injured man's automobile to the bridge area. At the bridge there were a few pieces of boards and some fruit had been scattered across the highway; the fruit took a course right down the middle of the highway (R. 117). There were automobile headlights shining on the area in the vicinity of the bridge almost all the time. The skid marks were very plain. He recalls definitely noting in his mind at the time of the accident that the skid marks started about 10 feet north of the bridge; the tire burns were wider in some places than at others, which was in-

dicated where he had crossed the road side-ways (R. 118-122).

There was a split in authority as to the origin of tire burns between the two highway patrolmen who investigated the accident. As formerly stated, Highway Patrolman Ernest Pearce testified that the crosses indicated on Exhibit G showed the commencement of the tire burns; however Officer Simmons on behalf of the defendant testified that he noticed two gouge marks just north of the bridge and that the southerly most gouge mark was approximately 2 feet from the center of the road on the west side, and about 5 to 7 feet north of the bridge, and was about 2 inches wide and 3 to 4 inches long (R. 307). The second gouge mark was longer and more jagged, and was about 1½ feet north and 6 to 8 inches east of the first gouge mark, and was west of the center. However, on the night of the impact he considered the center of the raspberry smear as the point of impact (R. 314). In his notes of his investigation made the night of the accident (Exhibit N) the officer then showed the point of impact to be 165 feet south of the bridge and 165 paces from the bridge to the plaintiff's car; yet the officer at the trial stated that he didn't believe any of the officers, including himself, thought that the point of impact was the center of the smear (R. 315). The exhibit originally showed the measurement of 17 feet 10 inches from the point of impact to the east shoulder, but the officer corrected it to be 11 feet 10 inches at the trial (R. 318). The officer again made the mistake of 100 feet in his notes of the measurement from the point of supposed

impact to the bridge. On Exhibit N he showed it to be 165 and at the trial he stated it was 65 feet. He took a measurement of 165 paces from the bridge to the plaintiff's car; he took no measurement whatsoever to the truck; he took the driver of the truck's word and was not concerned about the measurement of the truck (R. 321). In his report to the State Highway Patrol, he showed the point of impact to be 700 feet from the Ford automobile; that is from the center of the raspberry smear to the plaintiff's car (R. 322). The first time it ever occurred to him that he was 100 feet off in his measurement of the raspberry smear was the night before the trial. He did not make any note of gouge marks in his report or in his original notes (R. 323). The tire burns were still visible on the surface of the highway about one week following the accident (R. 326). He identified the tire burns on Exhibit G and could see no other tire burns extending south from the point marked by the crosses on the exhibit. Exhibit I showed the tire burns made by the Ford and was apparently an extension of the tire burns shown on Exhibit G (R. 327). Exhibit O was the original report of the officer which showed the 65 foot point to be 165 feet (R. 330). He admitted testifying under oath in his deposition taken before the trial that he came to an agreement with the other officers that the point of impact was the center of the raspberry smear, and that was 165 feet from the bridge; that he measured the distance with a tape (R. 333). And to further indicate the thoroughness of his investigation, although there were quite a few people at the scene of the accident, he took the names of no one (R.

340). Although the only measurements he took had reference to the center of the raspberry smear, the officer testified at the trial that he didn't believe any of the officers, including himself, thought that the point of impact was in the center of the smear (R. 315), and this, notwithstanding his admitted testimony on the deposition that he agreed with the officers that the center of the raspberry smear was the probable point of impact.

Sheriff Arthur Nelson testifying on behalf of the defendant stated that he saw what looked like a fresh gouge in the highway surface (R. 264), but he could not say whether the gouge mark was made the day before the accident or not. He did not measure from the gouge marks, but he estimated that they were two feet from the center of the highway which was purely a guess. It is significant that he saw no tire burns at all connecting the scuff mark up with the tire burns that were about 4 to 5 feet east of the center line (R. 267). The way the tracks started between the two tire burns was about the width of an automobile between the two rear wheels (R. 270). The sheriff claimed that there were no gouge marks between the point where the tire burns started and where the car made its final turn back to where it came to rest. He thought the tire came off right near where the first gouge mark was made, but he didn't know (R. 271-272). He claimed that there was a piece of rubber imbedded between the tire band rim of the truck and the truck bed, and the rear wheel of the truck was scuffed on the east side. The raspberry stain went over the center of the highway as much as 2 or 3 feet and

extended for a distance of about 60 feet south of the bridge (R. 278-279). The tire burn started about 4 or 5 feet east of the gouge marks (R. 285). The presence of these gouge marks was also testified to by William C. Dalton who appeared on behalf of defendant. He thought the gouge marks were just slightly on the west side of the road. He presumed they were made by the Ford wheel (R. 252-254).

Testifying in rebuttal on behalf of the plaintiff, the witness Theodore Atherly stated that he did not see any tire burns near the center of the highway that took a course east of the highway before making a turn to the west. He further stated that he looked in the area between the bridge and where the burns first appeared to see if there were other tire burns indicated on the pavement, and there were no others. He saw some gouges there but didn't think they were from the accident. He further stated that there was nothing there to indicate a connection between the gouge and the tire burns which first appeared on the highway (R. 362).

Officer Pearce testified in rebuttal that he was going up and down the highway with his flashlight, and that the area around the bridge was fairly well lit by headlights of cars and flares; that he did not observe any tire burns which originated at or near the center of the highway and proceeded in a northeasterly direction before they made the trip across to the west shoulder (R. 363-364). The burns indicated by the ink crosses on

Exhibit G represent the first indication of tire burns or marks upon the highway that he observed (R. 364).

The witness Glen C. Garfield who was a school-teacher and a passenger in the defendant's truck testified that the wheels of the truck appeared to be on the very far edge of the highway (R. 77). He stated that he did not see the bridge until they were very close to it although he was watching down the side of the road (R. 186-187). He stated that the plaintiff's car was proceeding in a normal manner as it approached, except for relative apparent speed which was the speed he judged before the plaintiff's automobile got within a quarter of a mile (R. 186-187). He stated that the plaintiff's car was probably traveling with its lights on dim when he last observed it. He stated that the truck was loaded with about six tons of feed and there were several cases of raspberries which were being carried in the tool box, which was located under the left corner; that it was not quite out to the edge of the body of the truck (R. 181). He stated that he was not conscious of the truck's applying its brakes anytime before the impact, and that the truck did not alter its course at all as plaintiff's car approached prior to the impact but maintained a straight course down the highway. He stated the truck was not on the shoulder prior to impact (R. 189-190). He did not think that at any time prior to impact did the truck's wheels get over to the right shoulder (R. 191). He stated that the impact of the collision made little effect on the forward movement of the truck. It just threw the passenger forward a little, but did not cause the truck to

change its course noticeably (R. 193). This fact is significant in that it indicates the contact of the Ford with the truck was strictly a sideswipe and confirms the testimony of the plaintiff to the effect that he just turned slightly towards the truck in order to miss hitting the bridge. If he had turned sharply into the truck, it is inconceivable that the truck would have continued to proceed on an unaltered course despite the force of the impact. The witness Garfield claimed that the truck stopped about 200 feet after impact and then the truck driver pulled up again about 300 feet onto the shoulder. When they went back to the scene of the accident, he saw fragments of broken boxes in the vicinity of the bridge (R. 195). He said there was just a trickle of raspberries even with the bridge, the bulk were down just a distance from the bridge (R. 196). He also stated that the impact was just north of the bridge (R. 200-201). By the time the witness got back to the scene of the accident, there were two carloads of football players from Minnesota who had stopped and rendered assistance to the plaintiff (R. 179). Without knowing whether or not the chains had been moved, he picked up some chains a little bit north of the bridge. There were cars going back and forth at the time (R. 180). He saw several tools scattered along the highway (R. 181), and part of the front fender of the Ford car was stuck in the corner of the truck bed, and a piece of tire from plaintiff's car was imbedded in the rim of the truck's rear wheel (R. 182). He said the bulk of the raspberries were about the bridge and in the center of the road (R. 183).

It is interesting to note that after impact, as the truck continued to pull ahead, it was trailing raspberries which overlapped the center of the highway, even though the truck was ostensibly pulling off the road to stop. It is not altogether unlikely that the gouge mark which the officers thought may have been made by the tire-covered rim of plaintiff's left wheel were in fact made by the falling of the tools onto the highway or by the passing of traffic over the chains and the tools before they were removed from the highway. These tools were carried underneath the truck and could have been knocked to the west some distance by the force of the sideswiping impact, before they actually made contact with the ground.

The truckdriver, Lamar W. Matheson testified that the truck was 23½ feet in length and that the bed of the truck was 94 inches (R. 218); that as he approached the bridge his speed was between 45 and 50 miles per hour (R. 220); that the plaintiff's lights were not blinding him, and when he first saw the plaintiff's car it was approximately two miles away, and he thought the car would clear his cab (R. 221). The truck was in close vicinity of the bridge abutment when the impact occurred. He claimed that the truck was at no time east of the center of the highway in the immediate vicinity of the bridge; he removed tools from the highway which were lying west of the center line. The tool box had been broken into pieces (R. 223-224). He stated that his lights were on low beam just before the accident (R. 225). He first saw the car about two miles away, and it appeared to be coming in a normal manner, and there was no indication that the Ford

was weaving at all on the highway ; it was coming straight (R. 228). Just a moment before the impact, the Ford did actually turn toward him (R. 229). Although the Ford did turn toward him, he did not alter his course other than the road required. At no time prior to the impact did he alter the straightforward course of his truck except as it followed the contour of the road, and there were no curves in the road between the roadside park and the bridge. He stated that the plaintiff's lights were not blinding him (R. 236), that the plaintiff seemed to dim his lights, and the truckdriver dimmed his (R. 240). He stated that after he saw the Ford coming, as it got close to him he didn't move over at all, and that he was over on his extreme left side of the pavement. Thereupon counsel for the defendant corrected him with the following language: "You mean left side or right side?" To which he answered, "West, or right" (R. 230). He said that he did not feel a jolt from the impact; that the force of the impact had no effect on his position in the truck. The first indication of the impact he had was a terrible noise just behind the driver's seat, and that he was too close to the bridge at the time of the impact to see (R. 231) He remembered the shoulder at the bridge to be approximately two feet wide (R. 232). After the impact he remained constantly in the direction he was going until he pulled off the road. All four wheels of the truck were on the hard surface of the road for a distance of 275 feet after impact before the truck was pulled off the highway (R. 234). Officer Pearce had previously testified that he had talked with the driver of the defendant's truck, and the driver

had told him he *thought* he was on his side of the road; that the driver didn't state it definitely (R. 212-213). When asked about this conversation with Officer Pearce, Mr. Matheson stated that he did not recall it, although he did not deny that the statement was made (R. 235).

Evidence Pertaining to Intoxication

Jack Scott testified on behalf of the defendant that the plaintiff came to his place of business about 5:30 o'clock in the evening on the day of the accident, and was very much intoxicated. The witness again, over the objection of the plaintiff, was permitted to testify to an incident which occurred in front of an adjoining store, during the course of which the plaintiff was said to have addressed another man thusly: "Hi, Stupid" and was said to have made threatening gestures with a 22 rifle which he was carrying at the time.

Another witness for the defendant, Robert Tuckett testified that the plaintiff made threatening gestures with the rifle after an exchange of unpleasant words between the witness and the plaintiff R. 135).

Another witness for the defendant, Layron Christenson who was manager of a hardware store in Cedar City, testified that he saw the plaintiff around 5:30; that he was a little bit drunk, and wanted to sell the witness a gun (R. 137).

Another witness for the defendant, Kent T. Farnsworth, testified that he was operating Ted's Bar

the day of the accident, and that the plaintiff came into the bar around 6:30 in the evening; that the plaintiff was unstable, although the witness figured he was all right to be served a beer. However, the plaintiff tipped the glass of beer over and the witness refused to serve plaintiff any more beer, whereupon the plaintiff became belligerent, and it was necessary for the witness to show him to the door (R. 139). The appearance of the plaintiff as he came into the beer parlor was that of a man who had been drinking, but who was carrying himself well at that time and he felt he could sell plaintiff a glass of beer without violating the rules and without rendering plaintiff drunk (R. 140-141).

Orissa Hirschi, an employee of the Circus Lounge, another tavern in Cedar City, saw the plaintiff in the Circus Lounge between 8:00 and 8:30 that evening. She described the plaintiff as very insulting and quite loud-mouthed (R. 143).

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