1952

Howard E. Watkins v. Utah Poultry and Farmers Cooperative : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“If you should find that the plaintiff was under the influence of intoxicating liquor as above defined and that that constituted negligence on his part and if that directly or proximately caused or contributed to the accident and resulting injuries, then you are instructed you should return a verdict for defendants, even though you should find that they were also guilty of negligence.”

The Court held:

“We think the defendants were entitled to have said requested instruction or a similar one given. If plaintiff was driving his car on a public highway while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, he was guilty of negligence per se (citations given). The requested instruction did not tell the jury that such negligence, if established, constituted contributory negligence, but it properly defined intoxication and told the jury that if it found that plaintiff was guilty of such negligence, and further found that such negligence directly and proximately caused or contributed to the injury, he could not recover. This did not invade the province of the jury. It left to the jury the determination of the vital factors, negligence and proximate cause or contributing cause.”

In *State v. Kendall*, 203 N.W. 807 (Iowa), which was a case involving criminal prosecution for driving while intoxicated, the facts as stated by the court were:

“Briefly stated, this case arose under the following circumstances: About or after midnight on the night of November 19, 1923, the defendant was driving south on Main Street in the City of Council Bluffs in a Ford automobile. His car collided with a street car approaching from

the opposite direction. Several witnesses testified against the defendant and several testified for him. Some of the witnesses on behalf of the State testified the defendant was intoxicated at the time. Others that he staggered when he attempted to walk; that he used abusive language toward the motorman and conductor and that they smelled intoxicating liquor on his breath. The undisputed testimony shows that after the collision the defendant alighted from his car and said, in addressing the motorman: 'Didn't you see me coming? Why the hell didn't you turn out?' To say the least, this inquiry could not come from a mind that was properly functioning."

The Court held:

"At most there is a sharp conflict in the testimony as to whether or not the defendant was intoxicated. It was wholly a question for the jury and the nisi prius court was right in submitting it to the jury."

Burgett v. Saginaw Logging Company et al, 85 P 2d 271 (Wash.), concerned an accident between a truck being driven in a southerly direction and a bicycle traveling north. Plaintiff, a three year old child, was riding on the crossbar of the bicycle. The complaint charged the driver of the truck for driving in excess of the lawful rate of speed and that he was under the influence of intoxicating liquor to such an extent that he did not have control of his automobile. Plaintiff received the verdict below. The evidence of intoxication amounted to a statement by one witness that the truck driver was noticeably drunk about four and one-half hours prior to the accident. The court below instructed in substance that vio-

lation of the statute prohibiting the driving of vehicles upon public highways while intoxicated is negligence per se. The court held the instruction was properly given and said:

“If the condition of intoxication was established then the only remaining question was whether the existence of that condition was a proximate cause of the collision. In the instruction to the jury the trial court defined proximate cause; the jury was instructed that the burden of proof is upon the respondent to establish by a fair preponderance of the evidence that appellant was negligent in the manner and way alleged by respondent at the time and place of the accident; and that such negligence, if any, was the proximate cause of the injuries received by respondent.”

The lower court concluded the issue of intoxication and proximate cause was a jury question. Instruction No. 5 given by the court in this case reads as follows:

“You are instructed that it is a violation of the law of this state for any person who is under the influence of intoxicating liquor to be in actual physical control of any motor vehicle. ‘Under the influence of intoxicating liquor’ means in such condition from the use of intoxicating liquor so as to impair the person’s ability to drive an automobile in the manner that an ordinarily prudent and cautious person in full possession of his faculties would operate a similar vehicle under like conditions.

“If you find from a preponderance of evidence in this case that the plaintiff, while driving his car immediately before and at the time of said accident, was under the influence of intoxicating

liquor as hereinbefore defined, then he was guilty of negligence as a matter of law, and if you find from a preponderance of the evidence that his condition was the sole or a proximate contributing cause of the collision with defendant's truck, then plaintiff cannot recover and your verdict must be for the defendant."

Said instruction is a correct statement of the law applicable under the evidence of this case. The instruction merely informs the jury that it is against the laws of this state to drive an automobile while under "the influence of intoxicating liquor." It then proceeds to define the term "under the influence of intoxicating liquor." The burden of proving intoxication on part of the plaintiff was placed upon the defendant by the term "if you find from a preponderance of the evidence in the case." The court did not instruct the jury that the plaintiff was under the influence of intoxicating liquor but merely that if the jury so found then the defendant was guilty of negligence. Nor did the court instruct the jury that this negligence precluded a recovery on the part of the plaintiff unless the jury further found also from "a preponderance of the evidence" that the intoxicated condition was the "sole or a proximate contributing cause of the collision."

Plaintiff complains of the court's refusal to give his requested instruction No. 1 to the effect that they should disregard the evidence in the case pertaining to the consumption of the beer by plaintiff is being immaterial. Such an instruction on the part of the court would have constituted a finding by the court that the

plaintiff was not intoxicated or that his intoxication was not a proximate or contributing cause of this accident. We have seen this is an issue for the jury which was properly submitted to the jury by the court in this case under instruction No. 5.

POINT NO. III

PLAINTIFF WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL BY THE IMPROPER ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE.

The proposition that evidence is not admissible because one of the parties does not remember, or chooses not to remember, which ever the case may be, events which are probative of the issues to be decided is a novel one. If such a rule were adopted a party could control admission of adverse evidence simply by feigning ignorance. The plaintiff in this case had no difficulty remembering those events necessary to make a *prima facie* case of negligence against the defendant but very conveniently failed to remember his "drinking activity" in Cedar City before the accident.

It may be true that evidence which tends to prove *facts which are admitted or are not controverted* will be more likely excluded where, if admitted, it would probably prejudice and mislead the jury. This rule, however, has no application to this case for the plain and simple reason that the intoxication of the plaintiff—the issue to which all of the evidence complained of was addressed—was not admitted and was controverted or denied by the plaintiff.

"A party cannot be deprived of the benefits of evidence which is relevant and material because it may also have a tendency to prejudice the adverse party in the eyes of the jury." 31 CJS 907, Sec. 186.

It is contended the evidence of plaintiff's intoxication prior to the accident and after the accident was too remote. Whether evidence of intoxication should be submitted to the jury is not determined by whether that evidence is exactly in point of time with the collision. The rule is illustrated by the following cases:

The action of *Stuart v. McVey*, 87 P 2d 446, (Idaho), involved the collision of two approaching vehicles. Defendant sought to introduce evidence of plaintiff's intoxication approximately three hours prior to the accident. This was excluded by the trial court. The appellant court held:

"The evidence sought to be elicited in the instant case referred to a period of time during the afternoon and up until 6:00 in the evening of the day of the collision, a period ending about three hours previous to the collision. There would seem to be no room for argument that evidence of the drinking intoxicating liquors and the condition of a person with reference to intoxication is admissible upon the question of intoxication, if such evidence is not too remote in point of time, the fact of remoteness in point of time going rather to the weight of the evidence, than to its admissibility, and evidence remote in point of time to the extent of 8 to 10 hours has been held properly admissible. Cases cited from Philadelphia, Oklahoma, Texas, Massachusetts, California, Iowa, Missouri, and New Mexico.

“The evidence sought to be elicited was admissible, not appearing to be too remote.”

In *Maier v. Minidoka County*, 105 P 2d 1076 (Idaho), the evidence sought to be introduced was the odor of alcohol on the motorist's breath at the hospital two and one-half hours after the accident. It was contended that inasmuch as the evidence was after the accident in point of time that *Stuart v. McVey* (supra) would not apply. The court held that evidence of intoxication after the accident was just as relevant as such evidence before the accident and its remoteness too, went to the weight to be given it and not to its admissibility.

In *Callahan v. Prewitt*, 13 N.W. 2nd 660 (Neb.), the accident occurred on a bridge between two approaching vehicles. Evidence that the plaintiff had been drinking shortly before the accident was admitted. Verdict was for defendant and plaintiff assigns as heir the admission of drinking. The court held:

“Assignments 4, 5 6 and 7 relate to the use of intoxicating liquors by Doerfler at a tavern at about 500 feet west of the Nebraska State Line in Wyoming immediately before proceeding to the point where the fatality occurred. The distance from the scene of the accident was but a few miles and the interval between was evidently but a matter of minutes. In the light of the other evidence this could not be considered evidence of intoxication, but we have no doubt, because of the brief interval of time and the closeness of this relationship to the accident and the incidents leading to it, of its admissibility as a circumstance proper to be considered by the jury in determining whether or not Doufler was guilty of negligence which was

the proximate cause of the accident which contributed to it."

Nor was the testimony about the very belligerent, obstreperous behavior of the plaintiff and his use of profane language inadmissible. A seriously injured person in a normal condition realizing his condition and that he might die is appreciative of the help of others and not resentful. In *Lynn v. Stinnette*, 31 P 2d 764 (Ore.), plaintiff's intestate was struck and killed while pushing a bicycle on the side of a road. There was evidence introduced of the consumption of alcohol beverage by the decedent and his conduct shortly before the accident. The court said:

"Evidence that the decedent, while at Mrs. Campbell's house, talked in a loud voice was relevant as tending to show what, if any, effect the beer had on him. It is common knowledge that intoxicating liquor has varying effects on different individuals. Some it impells to boisterousness and loud talking; others, to quarrelsomeness and sullenness."

Jones v. State, 92 S.W. 2nd 246 (Texas) involved a prosecution for driving while intoxicated. At the hospital appellant became violently loud and obscene in his talk, so much so that the sheriff was called. He testified that the appellant was drunk. Another witness who saw him a short time before the wreck also testified that from appellant's conduct and talk he thought appellant was intoxicated. The court said:

"Appellant brings forward a complaint because the court, over the objection, permitted the

sheriff to testify that when he saw appellant at the hospital and that appellant was drunk, the objection being that it was an hour or an hour and a half after the wreck before the sheriff saw appellant, and that the doctor had given him two or three strong hypodermics, in connection with which he had probably used denatured alcohol.

The court was not in error in admitting the sheriff's testimony. The objections went to the weight and not the admissibility of the evidence."

And so in the case at bar, it is submitted that the evidence of plaintiff's conduct before the accident, at the scene of the accident and in the Cedar City Hospital was admissible even though it might have had a tendency to prejudice the plaintiff in the eyes of the jury. The evidence was neither too remote or extraneous to the issue of the intoxication but had a definite bearing on the question of the negligence of the plaintiff. It was proper for the court to admit that evidence for the jury's consideration in their determination of that question.

POINT NO. IV

THE COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY UPON THE PLAINTIFF'S THEORY OF THE EVIDENCE.

It is true that a party to a lawsuit is entitled to have his theory of the evidence submitted to the jury to the extent that his theory is supported by the evidence and pleadings in the case. While this is true, this does not mean that the court must give the exact instruction requested by the plaintiff; that the court must follow the exact language of the requested instruction;

or give an instruction which is not supported by the evidence, is confusing, or does not correctly state the law applicable to the case. In *Toone v. O'Neill Construction Company*, 40 Utah 265, 121 P. 10, cited on page 36 of plaintiff's brief, the appellant complains of the court's refusal to give a certain instruction. The court said on page 285 of the Utah Report:

"Without now passing upon the question of whether the foregoing instruction was too broad in view of the evidence, we concede that a party is entitled to have his case submitted to the jury upon the theory of his evidence as well as upon the theory of the whole evidence. One way the court might have followed in charging the jury would have been to charge them in separate instructions, first in accordance with respondent's evidence; and, second, in accordance with appellants' evidence which related to the proposition covered by the instruction in question, and each instruction have directed the jury to return a verdict in accordance with their findings upon that question. The court was not bound to charge the jury in separate instructions, but could cover the question in one without offending against appellant's right.

Appellant's theory of the evidence was sufficiently covered by what the court told the jury and hence it was not prejudiced by the court's modification referred to.

In *Miller v. Utah Consolidated Mining Co., et al.*, 53 Utah 366, 178 P. 771, the court said at page 378 of the Utah Reports:

"The defendant was entitled to have its theory of the case submitted to the jury upon

proper instructions so long as the theory was based on some substantial testimony, not necessarily by separate instructions, but by instructions covering the question involving both the plaintiff's and the defendant's theories. From the foregoing instructions given by the trial court it is obvious that this is not only what the trial court attempted, but substantially did as fully and fairly as it might have done by the giving of the request denied the defendant."

In *Platt v. Utah Light and Traction Company*, 57 Utah 7, 169 P. 868 the court in reviewing instructions which in its opinion should have been given on page 13 of the Utah Reports says:

"Had the court given either of the instructions as requested or in substance and effect, we would be inclined to hold that the issue presented by the defendant's answer was sufficiently called to the attention of the jury, and its findings on that particular issue sufficiently determined."

As was said in *Potts v. Armour and Co.*, 39 Atlantic 2d 552 (Md.):

"Trial court may instruct jury upon the law of the case either by granting requested instructions or by instructions of its own on particular issues, or on the case as a whole, or by several or all of such methods."

The test is not whether the court gave the instructions requested by the defendant but whether the court properly instructed the jury upon the theory of plaintiff's case in those instances where a request was made and the evidence warranted the giving of an instruction.

Plaintiff complains of the court's refusal to give plaintiff's requested instruction No. 3 which reads as follows:

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